3

ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE
COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Appellate Panel

APR 19 2017

SC Court of Appeals

SCWCC No.: 1205647

O'Shea L. Brown, ClaimantAppellant,

v.

Steel Technologies, Employer and

Twin City Fire Ins. Co., CarrierRespondents.

Appellate Case No. 2016-001992

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Joe Ann Calvy
Joe Ann Calvy, LLC
P.O. Box 610
Kingstree, SC 29556
Telephone: (843) 354-5504
Facsimile: (843) 354-5845
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Commission err in finding that Claimant's alleged additional injuries for the vascular condition and associated right hip and lower back are not supported by the greater weight of the evidence and thus are not compensable, when such a finding was against the greater weight and preponderance of reliable and substantial evidence in the record and is based on erroneous legal conclusions?
- II. Did the Commission err in finding that Claimant was not permanently and totally disabled when such a finding was against the greater weight and preponderance of reliable and substantial evidence in the record and is based on erroneous legal conclusions?
- III. Did the single commissioner err in finding that Claimant is entitled to an award of 12% permanent partial disability to his right leg, when such a finding was against the greater weight and preponderance of reliable and substantial evidence in the record and is based on erroneous legal conclusions.
- IV. Did the Commission err in finding that Claimant is not entitled to future medical treatment, when such a finding was against the greater weight and preponderance of reliable and substantial evidence in the record and is based on erroneous legal conclusions?
- V. Did the Commission err in finding that the Defendants are entitled to credit for overpayment of temporary benefits from the date of the Single Commissioner's hearing to the date he issued his order?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves an accepted injury by accident to Claimant's right knee, which occurred on April 30, 2012 and necessitated a partial medial meniscectomy. He was climbing a ladder to get atop the bed of his trailer. However, a dispute arose as to the question of compensability with respect to a vascular condition/lymphedema present in Claimant's right lower extremity that caused life altering, permanent and irreversible swelling. Claimant sought a determination of compensability for the right lower extremity vascular condition, along with issues to his hip and lower back because of his altered gait, and a finding that he was permanently and totally disabled pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10. Defendants treated all conditions, including the vascular condition and the back and hip issue up until the date of the hearing before the Single Commissioner. It was not until after Claimant reached maximum medical improvement with his vascular specialist that Defendants denied everything except for the initial knee injury. Defendants have ignored *Ellison II* and contend that the medical evidence contradict any assertion that the vascular condition is "causally related" to either the original injury of April 30, 2012 or treatment received as a result thereof. They do agree that the allegations of issues with his hip and lower back are solely as a result of an alteration to his gait, attributable exclusively to the vascular issues.

Defendants submit that the evidence of the case support simply a finding of a compensable injury to the right knee, and as such Claimant is only entitled to an award under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 for the right lower extremity. Alternatively, Defendants' disregarded the *Ellison II* case and argued that if the Commissioner was to

find the vascular condition to be “causally related,” he was not yet at maximum medical improvement for those issues.

Claimant filed a Form 50 Request for Hearing seeking the relief above. (Form 50, filed June 18, 2014) Defendants responded, as stated above. (Form 51, filed June 25, 2014) The parties filed pre-hearing briefs and APA submissions, and the case was heard by Commissioner R. Michael Campell, II on February 6, 2015. Over eleven (11) months later, on January 27, 2016, Commissioner Campbell issued an Order with the below findings:

Single Commissioner Findings

1. The parties to this proceeding are subject to and bound by the terms and provisions of the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act, as amended, with Steel Technologies, as the Employer, and Twin City Fire Insurance Company as the Carrier.
2. Counsel for both parties received order instructions on November 9, 2015.
3. Claimant sustained an admitted injury to his right knee arising out of and in the course and scope of his employment on April 30, 2012.
4. Claimant’s knee injury was specifically a torn medial meniscus for which he required a partial medial meniscectomy on October 2, 2012.
5. Claimant’s need for a partial medial meniscectomy was causally related to the admitted injury occurring on April 30, 2012.
6. Claimant alleged additional injuries, which included a vascular condition of the right lower extremity, the right hip, and lower back.

7. Claimant's alleged additional injuries for the vascular condition and associated right hip and lower back are not supported by the greater weight of the evidence and thus are not causally related to the admitted injury of April 30, 2012 or treatment occurring as a result therefrom.

8. Claimant underwent various treatments and evaluations with multiple physicians for his work related and alleged causally related injuries, including surgery.

9. Dr. Rudolph found Claimant to be at maximum medical improvement for his knee injury on February 19, 2014 with a noted 13% impairment of the right lower extremity.

10. Dr. Rudolph's impairment rating was noted to include an increase for the Claimant's swelling.

11. I find that Claimant has satisfied his burden of proof relative to the causal connection between his work related accident and the resulting knee injury, which required a partial medial meniscectomy.

12. The medical records support my determination that Claimant sustained an injury by accident arising out of and in the course of his employment to his right knee.

13. I give the greatest weight to the findings of the authorized treating physicians, which included Dr. Rudolph, Dr. Morrison and Dr. Tavel as well as the deposition testimony proffered by Drs. Morrison and Dr. Tavel.

14. Based on the greater weight of the evidence, I find that the Claimant's vascular condition was not caused, activated, or aggravated by the compensable right knee injury or the treatment received as a result of said injury.

15. Based on the greater weight of the evidence, I find that the additional injuries alleged by Claimant as to the right hip and lower back, are attributable to his altered gait, which was the direct result of his lymphedema, which I have already found to be unrelated to the admitted injury of April 30, 2012.

16. Based on the greater weight of the evidence, I find that Claimant reached maximum medical improvement for his admitted injury to his right knee on February 19, 2014.

17. Claimant is entitled to an award of 12% permanent partial disability to his right leg for this admitted injury.

18. Lacking a definitive opinion from Dr. Rudolph relative to future medical treatment for Claimant's admitted injury; I find that Claimant is not entitled to future medical care.

19. I find that Defendants are entitled, as of the date of this hearing, to terminate temporary total disability compensation on account of my having found Claimant to be at maximum medical improvement on February 19, 2014.

20. I find that Defendants are not entitled to any credit for overpayment for compensation paid from the date of maximum medical improvement until the date of this hearing as Defendant's did not at any time raise S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-210.

21. I find that Defendants are also not entitled to any credit for overpayment for compensation paid between the date of this hearing and the date the Order Instructions were issued as Defendant's did not at any time raise S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-210.

Both Claimant and Defendants timely filed cross appeals to the Full Commission. (Form 30, filed February 5, 2016 by Claimant and Form 30 filed February 12, 2016 by Defendant) The parties timely filed Full Commission briefs and an Appellate Panel of the Full Commission heard oral arguments on June 20, 2016 and issued a unanimous decision on September 20, 2016. The Full Commission's order AFFIRMED IN PART and REVERSED IN PART the Single Commissioner's order. The findings are as follows:

Full Commission Findings

1. The parties to this proceeding are subject to and bound by the terms and provisions of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, as amended, with Steel Technologies, as the Employer, and Twin City Fire Insurance Company as the Carrier.
2. The hearing before the Single Commissioner occurred on February 6, 2015.
3. Counsel for both parties received order instructions on November 9, 2015.
4. Claimant's sustained a compensable knee injury, which required a partial medial meniscectomy that occurred on October 2, 2012.

5. Claimant's need for a partial medial meniscectomy was causally related to the admitted injury occurring on April 30, 2012.

6. Claimant's alleged additional injuries for the vascular condition and associated right hip and lower back are not supported by the greater weight of the evidence and thus are not casually related to the admitted injury of April 30, 2012 or treatment occurring as a result therefrom.

7. Dr. Rudolph found Claimant to be at maximum medical improvement for his knee injury on February 19, 2014 with a noted 13% impairment of the right lower extremity.

8. Dr. Rudolph's impairment rating was noted to include an increase for the Claimant's swelling, which was attributed to a vascular condition known as lymphedema, which Dr. Morrison concluded to be unrelated to the accident or resulting treatment.

9. We find that Claimant has satisfied his burden of proof relative to the causal connection between his work related accident and the resulting knee injury, which required a partial medial meniscectomy.

10. We give the greatest weight to the findings of the authorized treating physicians, which included Dr. Rudolph, Dr. Morrison and Dr. Tavel as well as the deposition testimony proffered by Drs. Morrison and Dr. Tavel.

11. Based on the greater weight of the evidence, we find that the Claimant's vascular condition, lymphedema, was not caused, activated, or aggravated by the compensable injury to Claimant's right knee or the treatment received as a result of said injury.

12. Based on the greater weight of the evidence, we find that the additional injuries alleged by Claimant as to the right hip and lower back, are attributable to his altered gait, which are the direct result of his lymphedema, which has already found to be unrelated to the admitted injury of April 30, 2012.

13. Based on the greater weight of the evidence, we find that Claimant reached maximum medical improvement for his admitted injury to his right knee on February 19, 2014.

14. We find Claimant is entitled to an award of 12% permanent partial disability to his right lower extremity for this admitted injury.

15. We find there is insufficient evidence to order any recommended future treatment that would lessen the period or extent of Plaintiff's disability as it pertains exclusively to the compensable injury to his right lower extremity; therefore, we find that Claimant is not entitled to future medical care.

16. We find that Defendants are entitled, as of the date of this hearing, to terminate temporary total disability compensation on account of my having found Claimant to be at maximum medical improvement on February 19, 2014.

17. We find that the Defendants continued to pay temporary total disability compensation from February 6, 2015 through November 9, 2015, while the parties awaited the order instructions of the Single Commissioner.

18. We find that neither party nor their respective counsel contributed to the delay in issuance of the order instructions between February 6, 2015 and November 9, 2015.

19. We find that Defendants are entitled to a credit for overpayment of temporary total disability compensation paid between the date of this hearing, February 6, 2015 and the date the Order Instructions were issued, November 9, 2015 though no credit shall be awarded for any temporary total disability compensation paid prior to the date of the hearing.

20. Defendants are entitled to a credit for compensation paid from February 6, 2015 and ending November 9, 2015, which totals Twenty-Two Thousand Five Hundred Ninety-Six and 85/100 (\$22,596.85) Dollars.

21. Defendants credit is in excess of Claimant's permanent partial disability award, thus no payment is due to the Claimant.

22. After Claimant's permanent partial disability award is applied to the aforementioned credit, Defendants have a resulting net credit of Nine Thousand Two Hundred Thirty-Four and 51/100 (\$9,234.51) Dollars.

23. The net credit owed to Defendant may be applied toward any future payments of permanency as ordered by this Commission or a higher court, if any; however, in no way shall this finding be construed to award Defendants reimbursement directly from the Claimant.

Claimant timely appealed to this Court.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

At the time of the hearing, Claimant was 40 years old. He is a twelfth grade graduate who testified that he was transporting a load of steel to a vendor in Charlotte North Carolina on April 30, 2012, when he injured himself and has not worked since

May 2, 2012.(R. p. 133, lines 22-25, R. p. 127 16, lines 10-12) He received temporary total disability checks until November 9, 2015, the date of the single commissioner's order instructions. (R. p. 27) On the day of the injury, during the process of making a delivery, Claimant testified that he went to get on the back of the trailer attached to his truck and bumped his right knee. Immediately after the incident, Claimant testified to calling his supervisor, Maurice Byrd, to report what happened. Despite the occurrence, Claimant testified that he continued to process the delivery and also transported another load the following day to Greensboro, North Carolina. (R. p. 118, lines 7-22) (R. p. 119 lines 8-10)

Claimant testified that he did not experience any swelling to his leg until after the injury. (R. p. 119, lines 14-19) Approximately two (2) to three (3) days after the incident, he went to see a doctor at the direction of his employer. (R. p. 119, lines 20-25) At this initial evaluation he stated that he was simply provided some medications though after some time, approximately five (5) or six (6) months, he was sent to an orthopedist. (R. p. 120, lines 13-15) Claimant was referred to Dr. Rudolph for his surgery, which eventually occurred in the form of a partial medial meniscectomy. Claimant testified that approximately an hour and a half to two hours after the surgery he began to experience swelling, which he was told was a result of his having surgery. He testified that the swelling goes from his right foot all the way up into his right hip, right side and back.(Tr. p. 11, lines 5- 25) (Tr. p. 12, lines 1-25). Claimant's testimony was that prior to this incident and his surgery, he had never experienced any swelling and following the surgery, despite assurances it would improve, his swelling gravely increased. He testified at some point during his treatment, Dr. Rudolph recommended further treatment to his

knee as his kneecap is sitting out of place. (Tr. p. 145, lines 5-25) (Tr. p. 146, lines 1-25) (R. p. 36, lines 1-24) Claimant also developed and started complaining of back pain while he was treating with Dr. Rudolph. (Claimant's APA pp. 346-347)

Claimant was eventually referred to Dr. Morrison, who treated him for a vascular problem, in hopes of reducing the swelling. (R. p. 123, lines 17-25) Upon being seen by Dr. Morrison Claimant testified that he was recommended to undergo a vein closure, which was done. *Id.* However, Plaintiff testified that the vascular surgery that he underwent has not helped with his swelling, so he was eventually referred to Dr. Tavel for pain management. (R. p. 124, lines 9-17) Dr. Tavel has been treating him for issues relative to his having developed hip and back pain as well, which were attributed to changes in his gait from the swelling of his lower extremity. Claimant further testified that the issues he is experiencing with his back have been attributed to his altered gait on account of the swelling in his leg and that he has swelling on a daily basis. (R. p. 125, lines 2-8) (R. p. 125, lines 13-21) He testified that he also experiences problems with his hip in the hip joint all the time. (R. p. 125, lines 22-25)

Claimant addressed his employment status, contending that he was unable to work in any capacity on account of the limitations established by Drs. Rudolph and Tavel. Claimant testified that he was not supposed to lift or squat and that he could work in a position where he was sitting or standing, but this was for limited periods of time. Claimant also testified that he was supposed to be permitted a ten (10) minute break for every one (1) hour of work.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act establishes the substantial evidence standard for judicial review of decisions by the Appellate Panel. S. C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 (Supp.2011); Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 134-35, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). Under the substantial evidence standard of review, this court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Appellate Panel as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse when the decision is affected by an error of law. Stone v. Traylor Bros., Inc., 360 S.C. 271, 274, 600 S.E.2d 551, 552 (Ct.App.2004).

“Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusions the [Appellate Panel] reached in order to justify its actions.” Broughton v. S. of the Border, 336 S.C. 488, 495, 520 S.E.2d 634, 637 (Ct.App.1999) (internal citation omitted).

ARGUMENT

- I. **Did the Commission err in finding that Claimant’s alleged additional injuries for the vascular condition and associated right hip and lower back are not supported by the greater weight of the evidence and thus are not compensable, when such a finding was against the greater weight and preponderance of reliable and substantial evidence in the record and is based on erroneous legal conclusions?**

In this case, Claimant suffered a knee injury that resulted in surgery. After surgery, Claimant had an enormous amount of swelling in the surgical leg and was referred to a vascular doctor, which resulted in vascular surgery. Claimant also developed hip and back pain as a result of the altered gait because of the swelling. Defendants contend that the vascular condition is a pre-existing condition that was not aggravated by

the injury and is thus not causally related to the work injury. Claimant contends that the work injury caused the vascular condition but regardless of how the derivation of the vascular condition, *Ellison II* is controlling in this case. Ellison made it clear that the pre-existing condition that renders the Claimant unable to work, can be considered, when determining whether a Claimant is permanently and totally disabled regardless of whether the pre-existing condition was aggravated or not.

This truck driver suffered a knee injury from bumping his knee on a truck trailer, which resulted in 1. an immediate swollen knee with arthroscopic right knee surgery and partial medial meniscectomy. 2. subsequent and continuous chronic post-operative swelling of the right knee, leg and foot despite great vein ablation and compression therapy by a vascular surgeon, lymphedema treatments and pain management, and 3. back and hip pain from his altered gait. Defendants directed treatment and paid for the medical care to the knee, the subsequent swelling of the lower extremity and the back and hip pain, from the date of the injury on April 30, 2012 until February 19, 2014, the date the knee specialist noted Claimant was at maximum medical improvement. (Single Commissioner Order Findings of Fact #9)

At the hearing, the Single Commissioner made findings that, Claimant sustained an admitted injury to his right knee arising out of and in the course and scope of his employment on April 30, 2012, Claimant's knee injury was specifically a torn medial meniscus for which he required a partial medial meniscectomy on October 2, 2012, Claimant's need for a partial medial meniscectomy was causally related to the admitted injury occurring on April 30, 2012. The single commissioner disregarded *Ellison II* and made a finding that the resulting lymphedema/chronic swelling and resulting back and

hip pain were not casually related to this work injury and that the greater weight of the evidence shows that the Claimant's vascular condition was not caused, activated, or aggravated by the compensable right knee injury or the treatment received as a result of said injury. (R. p. 20)

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