RECEIVED

MAR 22 2017

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Appellate Panel

Appellate Case No. 2016-001992

O'Shea L. Brown, Claimant

Appellant,

v.

Steel Technologies, Employer,
and
Twin City Fire Ins. Co., Carrier

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Matthew C. LaFave
CROWE LAFAVE, LLC
Post Office Box 1149
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 724-5727
matt@crowelafave.com
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENTS

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Appellate Panel

Appellate Case No. 2016-001992

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

ARGUMENTS

1. THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THE APPELLATE PANEL'S FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT'S ALLEGED ADDITIONAL INJURIES FOR THE VASCULAR CONDITION AND ASSOCIATED RIGHT HIP AND LOWER BACK ARE NOT COMPENSABLE AND THE FINDING WAS NOT BASED ON OR AFFECTED BY AN ERROR OF LAW.

Appellant has advanced numerous issues in his appeal, the first of which include challenges to the finding that the chronic lymphedema he presently suffers from is not causally related to the accepted injury. However, the overall premise for each issue advanced by Appellant, with the exception of the credit for overpayment, is flawed as Appellant argues that there exists substantial evidence in the record to support an alternative finding favorable to his positions. Specifically, Appellant contends that the Commission's finding the vascular condition and associated right hip and lower back injuries were not compensable was "against the greater weight and preponderance of substantial evidence in the record." Appellant proceeds then to make identical arguments as to the Appellate Panel's findings as to Appellant's permanent partial disability award in lieu of finding permanent and total disability and denying future

medical treatment. At no point in the Initial Brief of Appellant is there a challenge mounted or argument made that the findings of the Appellate Panel, which Appellant takes issue with, were not supported by substantial evidence, as is the proper standard of review for this Court.

“The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act (APA) establishes the standard for judicial review of decisions of the Workers' Compensation Commission.” *Hargrove v. Titan Textile Co.*, 360 S.C. 276, 288, 599 S.E.2d 604, 610 (Ct. App. 2004); (See *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981); *Gibson v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. No. 3*, 338 S.C. 510, 526 S.E.2d 725 (Ct. App. 2000)). “A reviewing court may reverse or modify a decision of an agency if the findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions of that agency are ‘clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record.’” *Id.*; (quoting *Burse v. South Carolina Dep't of Health and Envtl. *289 Control*, Op. No. 3813, 360 S.C. 135, 600 S.E.2d 80, (Ct. App. filed June 1, 2004) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 24 at 47); S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(6)(e) (Supp.2003)). “Under the scope of review established in the APA, this Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse where the decision is affected by an error of law.” *Id.*, 360 S.C. at 289; (See *Frame v. Resort Servs., Inc.*, 357 S.C. 520, 593 S.E.2d 491 (Ct. App.2004); *Stephen v. Avins Constr. Co.*, 324 S.C. 334, 478 S.E.2d 74 (Ct. App.1996); S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(6)(d) (Supp.2003)).

Review of decisions rendered by the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission is governed by the substantial evidence rule as promulgated by the APA. *Id.* Any such review by the Court of Appeals is limited to a determination of whether there is unsupported by substantial evidence to or was a result of an error in the application of the law. *Id.* “In reviewing the decision of the commission, we will not set aside its findings unless they

are not supported by substantial evidence or they are controlled by an error of law.” *Lyles v. Quantum Chem. Co. (Emery)*, 315 S.C. 440, 445, 434 S.E.2d 292, 294 (Ct. App. 1993). A finding is supported by substantial evidence “unless there is no reasonable probability that the facts could be as related by a witness upon whose testimony the finding was based.” A finding upon which reasonable men might differ will not be set aside. *Id.*; (quoting *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 136, 276 S.E.2d 304, 307 (1981)).

“Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the administrative agency reached in order to justify its action.” *See Supra Hargrove*, 360 S.C. at 289; (See *Etheredge v. Monsanto Co.*, 349 S.C. 451, 562 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2002); *Broughton v. South of the Border*, 336 S.C. 488, 520 S.E.2d 634 (Ct. App. 1999)). “The possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's findings from being supported by substantial evidence.” *Id.* at 290; (See *Sharpe v. Case Produce, Inc.*, 336 S.C. 154, 519 S.E.2d 102 (1999); *Muir v. C.R. Baird, Inc.*, 336 S.C., 266, 282, 519 S.E.2d 583, 591 (Ct. App. 1999)). “Where there are conflicts in the evidence over a factual issue, the findings of the Appellate Panel are conclusive.” *Id.*; (See *Etheredge*, 349 S.C. at 455, 562 S.E.2d at 681).

The findings of the Appellate Panel relative to the compensability of the chronic lymphedema and associated hip and lower back are all supported by substantial evidence and as such cannot be set aside. Appellant, on April 30, 2012, sustained an admitted injury to his right knee, which resulted in a torn medial meniscus. Following the injury and in the course of the medical treatment Appellant required a partial medial meniscectomy, which was completed on October 2, 2012. Based upon the available evidence the surgery was successful in its repair of

Appellant's torn medial meniscus though Appellant contends that he began, *following* the surgery, to experience swelling in his right lower extremity to an extent never previously experienced. Appellant, as a result of the perceived swelling, was sent for additional evaluation to Dr. Edward C. Morrison of Coastal Vascular & Vein Center. Dr. Morrison opined that Appellant had a vascular disorder, which was causing significant swelling of his lower extremity and performed a surgical procedure to close his greater saphenous vein. After the procedure failed to reduce the swelling Appellant was referred to Dr. Edward M. Tavel, Jr. of Pain Specialists of Charleston for the primary purpose of ruling out complex regional pain syndrome and to otherwise treat the pain associated with the Appellant's chronic lymphedema.

During the course of the litigation, counsel for Respondents subpoenaed both Drs. Morrison and Tavel. Both parties questioned Dr. Morrison extensively regarding the causal connection, if any, between Appellant's chronic lymphedema for which he was treating him and the accepted right knee injury and/or resulting treatment. Dr. Morrison was directly examined and cross-examined by both attorneys answering some very pointed questions on the issue as follows:

Q: Is it your opinion, in Mr. Brown's case, that his current condition is directly attributable to the arthroscopy that he underwent?

A: His current condition of venous disease and lymphatic disease is attributable to the arthroscopy?

Q: Yes, sir.

A: No.

See Deposition of Dr. Morrison, R. p. 197, lines 9-17.

A: in my experience, chronic lymphedema does not result from a single meniscus tear and repair.

See Deposition of Dr. Morrison, R. p. 222, lines 5-7.

Q: is it your testimony to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the treatment that you are providing to Mr. Brown is not work related at all?

...

Q: Do I [sic] think it's related to his work injury? Are you treating because of ...

A: No, ma'am. I do not think so.

See Deposition of Dr. Morrison, R. p. 223, lines 3-19.

A: Do I think it's a major surgery that's going to precipitate a massive edema, I do not.

See Deposition of Dr. Morrison, R. p. 229, lines 14-16.

A: Now, I don't even have the orthopedic results, but was a knee trauma, and maybe one of y'all could tell me about that, you know, a meniscus tear, which you can do walking the hall, did that precipitate his edema? In my opinion, ma'am, it did not precipitate his edema.

See Deposition of Dr. Morrison, R. p. 230, lines 13-19.

Simply put there was no question as to Dr. Morrison's stance on any perceived causal connection between Appellant's right knee injury or resulting surgery and the chronic lymphedema he was treating. The greatest weight, as found by the Single Commissioner and affirmed by the Appellate Panel, was given to the treating physicians, including Drs. Morrison and Tavel and their respective depositions. As held by the Court in *Hargrove*, this Court cannot substitute its judgment as to the weight of the evidence. Dr. Morrison's testimony provides substantial evidence to support the finding of the Appellate Panel that Appellant's vascular condition was not causally related to the compensable knee injury sustained by Appellant on April 30, 2012, or the treatment associated therewith. Based upon the deposition testimony of Dr. Morrison there was substantial evidence to support the finding of the Appellate Panel that the vascular condition was not causally related despite the references by Appellant to evidence that might have otherwise supported a finding of compensability. The findings of an administrative

agency may still be supported by substantial evidence although there is a possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence. *See Supra Hargrove*, 360 S.C. at 289.

Appellant next turns his attention to the compensability of the “associated right hip and lower back” issues under the same pretense as with the vascular condition arguing they are causally related, which he submits is supported by substantial evidence. However, in the opening sentence of the Initial Brief of Appellant relative to each the hip and lower back (Pages 19 & 20), Appellant references that “it is undisputed that the vascular condition caused the hip condition” and “it is undisputed that the vascular condition caused the back condition.” The argument being advanced by Appellant suffers from a distinct and fatal flaw in that the substantial evidence supported the Appellate Panel’s finding that the chronic lymphedema was not causally related to the work related injury nor was it a result of the treatment thereof thus severing any connection between either associated condition, hip or lower back, and the workplace accident.

In further attempting to relate the hip and back issues to the accepted claim, Appellant misstates pertinent facts and findings of the physicians involved in this case by attempting to infer Respondents were providing treatment for these conditions. Specifically, Appellant identifies one medical report of the authorized orthopedic surgeon that included a reference to pain radiating to his hip and attempts to infer this was evidence that Respondents accepted and paid for treatment to the hip. Despite the extensive medical documentation in evidence in this case, Appellant fails to identify one visit, bill or treatment record of any kind where he underwent treatment focused on the hip or lower back at the expense of Respondents. The presence of a complaint by Appellant does not represent or indicate acceptance of an allegedly related body part only that a patient has a complaint. Moreover, in the deposition of Dr. Edward

Tavel he was directly asked and succinctly refuted any indication or inference that he was authorized to or otherwise did provide treatment to Appellant for his hip. Likewise, Appellant references complaints to his IME physician, Dr. Mason Ahearn, relative to the lower back and references an opinion rendered by Dr. Ahearn that Dr. Tavel was authorized to and did treat Appellant's back pain. As was the case with the hip, during his deposition Dr. Tavel was asked and likewise denied that he was authorized or did provide any treatment for Appellant's back pain. In fact, during the deposition of Dr. Tavel Appellant himself acknowledged Respondents never approved certain treatment to his back. (*See* Deposition Transcript of Dr. Edward M. Tavel, Jr., R. p. 269, lines 1-9). The substantial evidence in this case clearly supports the finding reached by the Appellate Panel that the chronic lymphedema was the impetus of the hip and back pain on account of it having significantly altered his gait. The substantial evidence supports a finding that the chronic lymphedema is not compensable and as such any body parts affected thereby, having been attributed to the alteration of his gait due to excessive swelling, are likewise unrelated and not compensable.

2. THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE APPELLATE PANEL'S FINDING THAT APPELLANT WAS NOT PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED AND THE FINDING WAS NOT BASED ON OR AFFECTED BY AN ERROR OF LAW.

Appellant next contends that the Appellate Panel erred finding he was not permanently and totally disabled. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10(a) states that “[w]hen the incapacity for work resulting from an injury is total, the employer shall pay, or cause to be paid ... a weekly compensation equal to sixty-six and two-thirds percent of his average weekly wage ... [but] in no case may the period covered by the compensation exceed five hundred weeks except as provided in subsection (C).” Appellant's initial attempt to establish the error of the Appellate Panel in finding him to not be permanently and totally disabled is to reassert the contention that

the vascular condition was compensable. Respondents have thoroughly established that substantial evidence existed to support the finding that the vascular condition was not compensable such that the Appellate Panel finding cannot be set aside. Without the vascular condition being compensable, Appellant's associated hip or lower back issues are also unrelated to this claim rendering it an injury to a single scheduled member confining recovery to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 such that S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 cannot be relied upon as a basis under which Appellant could be found permanently and totally disabled.

Appellant alternatively argues *Ellison v. Frigidaire Home Prods.*, 371 S.C. 159, 638 S.E.2d 664 (2006) controls this case and supports a finding of permanent and total disability. Appellant contends specifically he is unable to work on account of the combination of his pre-existing condition and his workplace injury to his right lower extremity, which he believes entitles him to an award of permanent and total disability under *Ellison II*. In *Ellison II*, the employee sustained a fracture of his leg for which he was eventually give 20% permanent impairment. *Id.* However, in addition to the aforementioned work related injury, *Ellison* suffered from a whole host of pre-existing conditions, which included "hypertension, sleep apnea, prostate cancer, diabetes and congestive cardiac disease." *Id.* The Court permitted the employee in *Ellison* to recover for permanent and total disability despite the fact that the evidence presented reflected no causal connection between the pre-existing conditions and his workplace injury. Specifically, the Court relied upon certain language found in S.C. Code Ann § 42-9-400(a) and (d), which state in pertinent part:

(a) If an employee who has a **permanent physical impairment from any cause or origin** incurs a subsequent disability from injury by accident arising out of and in the course of his employment, resulting in compensation and medical payments liability or **either**, for disability that is *162 substantially greater, by reason of the **combined effects** of the preexisting impairment and subsequent injury or by reason of the aggravation of the preexisting impairment, than that which would

have resulted from the subsequent injury alone, the employer or his insurance carrier shall in the first instance pay all awards of compensation and medical benefits provided by this Title; but such employer or his insurance carrier shall be reimbursed from the Second Injury Fund....

....
(d) As used in this section, “**permanent physical impairment**” means any permanent condition, *whether congenital or due to injury or disease*, of such seriousness as to constitute a hindrance or obstacle to obtaining employment or to obtaining reemployment if the employee should become unemployed.
(emphasis added).

Id. 371 S.C. at 161-62.

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